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“A Man and His Ship, a hugely entertaining re-creation of the age of the ocean liner, will leave older readers nostalgic, younger readers envious, and all of them engrossed in the drama of William Francis Gibbs as he fights to build the greatest ship of them all, the S.S. United States. The Cunard Line once boasted that ‘getting there is half the fun.’ Now Steven Ujifusa has given us the other half.”

—A. J. LANGGUTH,
author of Driven West

“A marvelous narrative of America’s premier naval architect.”

—BARRETT TILLMAN,
author of Enterprise





THE STORY OF A
GREAT AMERICAN
BUILDER

At the peak of his power, in the 1940s and 1950s, William Francis Gibbs was considered America’s best naval architect. His quest to build the finest, fastest, most beautiful ocean liner of his time, the S.S. United States, was a topic of national fascination. When completed in 1952, the ship was hailed as a technological masterpiece at a time when “made in America” meant the best.

Gibbs was an American original, on par with John Roebling of the Brooklyn Bridge and Frank Lloyd Wright of Fallingwater. Forced to drop out of Harvard following his family’s sudden financial ruin, he overcame debilitating shyness and lack of formal training to become the visionary creator of some of the finest ships in history. He spent forty years dreaming of the ship that became the S.S. United States.

William Francis Gibbs was driven, relentless, and committed to excellence. He loved his ship, the idea of it, and the realization of it, and he devoted himself to making it the epitome of luxury travel during the triumphant post–World War II era. Biographer Steven Ujifusa brilliantly describes the way Gibbs worked and how his vision transformed an industry. A Man and His Ship is a tale of ingenuity and enterprise, a truly remarkable journey on land and sea.
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To my grandmother Judith Follmann,
world traveler, woman of culture,
and the inspiration for this book



PROLOGUE


The Way It Was

The transatlantic ocean liner possessed a mystique now lost to the world. For the first half of the twentieth century, ships named Mauretania, Bremen, Normandie, and Queen Mary were known and loved by tens of millions of people on both sides of the Atlantic. When a big liner arrived in New York City for the first time, thousands lined the Hudson to watch a man-made object—one that seemed to have life and soul—move serenely upriver. Their eyes were following something simply massive—she could be up to five city blocks long and twelve stories high, her deep-throated whistles bellowing in response to a cheering crowd. Sculpted hull, gleaming paint, and raked-back smokestacks conveyed beauty, power, and speed.

In the New York newspapers, the shipping news doubled as society news, as readers learned if Greta Garbo, Cary Grant, Margaret Truman, Vincent and Brooke Astor, or the Duke and Duchess of Windsor were aboard one of the ocean liners arriving or leaving that day. When a great ship left for Europe, it was an occasion awash in champagne and laughter. On board, first-class passengers enjoyed public rooms and private quarters that were decorative showplaces for the world’s most talented designers, men and women who created some of the most stunning interiors ever built on land or sea. En route, high standards of service for the ship’s most privileged passengers meant money for its owners and prestige for the nation whose flag she flew. Ships connected businessmen to transatlantic partners, diplomats to their posts, jazz artists to European audiences, students to adventures, immigrants to American jobs, and refugees to freedom. During two devastating world wars, liners converted to troopships carried millions of GIs to the front, and then brought them home again in triumph.

To the public, the ocean liner—once the only way to get across the Atlantic—was the epitome of glamorous travel. She also represented the pinnacle of technology—the most complex and powerful machine on earth. Deep inside her hull were engines capable of propelling a thousand-foot-long mass of steel through the giant waves of the North Atlantic at nearly 40 miles per hour. The liner that crossed the Atlantic the fastest captured a prize called the Blue Riband. A winner became the most famous ship in the world—until a faster rival bested her.

From the 1860s to the 1950s, all of the liners that captured the Blue Riband flew European flags, as a passive America seemed to accept the superiority of foreign engineering, manufacturing, and managerial prowess. One American did not, and this is the story of his quest to build the fastest, most beautiful, and safest ocean liner ever—the ship that was to become one of the greatest engineering triumphs in American history.



BOOK I



THE MAN AND
THE VISION




[image: image]


SIZE, LUXURY, AND SPEED

The first time he saw an ocean liner, little Willy Gibbs knew what he wanted to do with his life.

    On a rainy November 13, 1894, twenty-five thousand people waited outside the gates of Philadelphia’s Cramp Shipyard on the banks of the Delaware River. They were there to see a marvel of the age: the steamship St. Louis, one of the largest ocean liners in the world and America’s brand-new entry into the transatlantic passenger trade. When the gates opened, people surged toward the ship. She was 550 feet long and decorated from stem to stern with flags of the world, with the American Stars and Stripes flying high above the bow.1

The owner of the new ship, Philadelphia businessman Clement Griscom, was on his way to the shipyard with the christening party, headed by the bulky U.S. president, Grover Cleveland and the elegant, much younger first lady, Frances Cleveland. A chuffing Pennsylvania Railroad locomotive pulled the presidential train right up to the Cramp Shipyard gates. Stepping out, the first lady took Griscom’s arm, and the group of dignitaries walked to the launching platform, joined along the way by shipyard owner Charles H. Cramp.

Among those watching the scene was the forty-eight-year-old William Warren Gibbs, a crafty, aggressive financier who was said to sit on more boards of directors than any other man in America. On this blustery fall day, he had brought his two young sons—eight-year-old William Francis and six-year-old Frederic—to watch the launch of the great liner.

Self-made William Warren Gibbs was one of Philadelphia’s most daring entrepreneurs. His physical appearance matched his temperament: he was lean, with fierce, defiant eyes, and a dark, pointed beard. A farm boy from the small town of Hope, New Jersey, he had arrived in the city thirty years before with little more than a skill for persuasion, but went on to become a multimillionaire laying gas lines and selling electric batteries. The United Gas Improvement and Electric Storage Battery companies had also enriched many of the city’s leading citizens. When he brought his sons to see the launch of St. Louis, he was rumored to be worth $15 million, a stupendous pile of money in 1894.1 His sometime partner in the gas business was a well-connected member of an old Philadelphia family: St. Louis’s owner Clement Griscom, president of the International Navigation Company, a shipping firm he founded with the help of the mighty Pennsylvania Railroad.

William Warren Gibbs might have looked at ships with an eye for profit. But for his eight-year-old son William Francis, seeing a great ship was pure poetry. During summer days at the family’s summer home on the New Jersey shore, the boy scanned the horizon for funnels, masts, and black smudges of coal smoke, and then sketched what he saw. He knew that as he looked north, ocean liners, growing bigger and faster every year, were sailing in and out of the great port city of New York. Little Willy yearned for a closer look at one of these ocean greyhounds.

And now, at his father’s side, he had his chance—St. Louis was a liner of vigorous beauty, her graceful hull draped with red, white, and blue bunting.

The shipyard was also a marvel to behold. William Cramp & Sons had been building cargo ships, passenger liners, and warships for over sixty years. The proud standard bearer for Philadelphia’s industrial might, Cramps employed more than five thousand workers, many of them immigrants from Ireland and Italy.2 In the yard was a towering crane, perched atop a floating barge, that could pick up a seventy-ton boiler and deftly swing it into the hull of a ship over three hundred feet away. Muscular riveters put hulls together by hammering red-hot rivets into steel and iron plates. Roaring orange fires glowed from forges where men shaped mammoth pistons, propellers, and funnels with the precision of watchmakers.

As the music from the band faded into silence, the little boy and the crowd around him awaited the launching of the great ship. Mounting the platform, Cramp handed the first lady a bottle of champagne. The hydraulic rams then hit the ship a bit too early, and the hull started to creep down the ways. Startled, the first lady called out, “I christen thee St. Louis!” and smacked the bottle across the prow before it slid out of reach.3 Picking up speed, the ship roared down the tallow-greased slipway toward the Delaware River, kicking up billows of acrid smoke and, upon hitting the water, sending waves smashing against the banks. Once fully in the river, heavy chains slowed her to a stop. Tugboat crews secured their lines, and she was towed to the fitting-out basin. Her sister ship, St. Paul, remained on an adjacent slipway, to be christened in April of the following year.

At a luncheon after the launch, frock-coated dignitaries toasted the glory of the new American flagship and the presumed rebirth of the nation’s preeminence on the North Atlantic. The American merchant marine—before the Civil War a vast fleet of clippers, whaling ships, and sailing packets—had been in steady decline for decades. An American steamship had not held the transatlantic speed record for half a century. The culprits were lack of government support, a shortage of private capital, and cheaper, subsidized foreign competition.

But to President Cleveland and Clement Griscom, St. Louis represented the dawn of a new era of American maritime might. “We may well be proud because we have launched the largest and most powerful steamship in the Western hemisphere,” the president declared, “built on American plans, by American mechanics, and of American materials.” The two ships would “furnish the revival and development of American commerce and the renewed appearance of the American flag in foreign ports.”4

To little William Francis Gibbs, the launching of the new ship on that drizzly November day marked the start of a lifelong love affair. He would grow up to build a ship much bigger, faster, and grander than the magnificent St. Louis.

“That was my first view of a great ship and from that day forward I dedicated my life to ships,” William Francis Gibbs later recalled. “I have never regretted it.”5

The size, beauty, and luxury of the nineteenth-century ocean liner captivated the public, but even more alluring was speed. “Speed is the only thing which they talk, think, or dream of anywhere between Sandy Hook and Roche’s Point,” the New York Times said about American passengers in 1883. “Whenever their vessel distances some other steamship which is bound in the same direction, they are thrown into ecstasies.”6 Shipbuilders were just as obsessed with speed. “Each successive lowering of the record,” boasted Philadelphia’s Cramp Shipyard, “marks a triumph for the designer and builder, a fame world-wide, and substantial benefits to mankind.”7

This speed record was known as the “Blue Riband of the Atlantic,” a mythic-sounding prize developed in the middle of the nineteenth century and awarded to the fastest steamship sailing between the old and new worlds. Because actual miles traveled varied from voyage to voyage, the unspoken rule was to award the Blue Riband not to the ship making the quickest trip, but to the one achieving the highest average speed in nautical miles per hour, or knots (1.15 land miles per hour).2 Prevailing winds and currents made the westbound crossing, from Europe to America, more difficult than the one eastbound. So the Blue Riband was divided into two prizes: one for the westbound record and another for the eastbound; the former, more arduous crossing, carrying more prestige. There was no set course, but the generally accepted rule was that the clock started when the ship left its last port of call and achieved full cruising speed—usually off the southwest tip of England—and ended at the entrance to New York harbor, either at Sandy Hook or Ambrose Lightship, when she had to slow down. What started as an advertising ploy quickly grew into an international contest into which steamship companies, engineers, and governments poured talent and money.

It was the advent of steam that allowed oceangoing passenger ships to keep regular schedules, and the first commercially successful steamship was an America creation. In 1807 Robert Fulton’s steamboat Clermont, plying the Hudson River, cut the travel time from New York to Albany from three days down to thirty-two hours, and could make regularly scheduled departures regardless of wind and currents. Twelve years later, an enterprising group of businessmen from Savannah, Georgia, outfitted a small sailing ship with a crude steam engine and paddle wheels and sent her across the Atlantic. Savannah’s epic voyage, even if only made partially under steam, was a landmark in maritime history, but American businessmen decided that steamships were best used on inland and coastal routes. The ocean remained the domain of the sailing ships, most notably the clippers, which journeyed around Cape Horn to the gold fields of California and the tea and spice hubs of East Asia.

It was a different story for the British, whose fortunes were tied to the overseas wealth generated by its far-flung colonies. For the British government, supporting this new transportation technology—steamships that could carry passengers, mail, and cargo on a regular schedule—was a matter of imperial necessity. Not only that, but there were fortunes to be made carrying immigrants in steerage to the United States and Canada. In 1839, Samuel Cunard, an enterprising colonial who moved to England from Nova Scotia, finagled a British government subsidy of £60,000 a year to start a transatlantic steamer line that would carry the mails.8 Cunard’s first ship, Britannia—a two-hundred-foot-long, wooden paddle-wheel steamer with a top speed of 8.5 knots (about 10 land miles per hour)—made its first voyage between Liverpool, Halifax, and Boston in July 1840. Service to New York began in 1857. Cunard’s ships cut a typical Atlantic crossing time down from two months under sail to a mere two weeks under steam. For Samuel Cunard, safety and reliability trumped luxury. Cabins were cramped, furnishings plain, and cuisine bland at best. As his partner Charles MacIver once made clear to an unhappy passenger, “Going to sea is a hardship.”9

The transition from sail to steam made crossings faster, but not necessarily more pleasant; the North Atlantic was still arguably the most treacherous body of water on the planet. Except for a brief sunny summer interlude, passengers boarding a liner in Liverpool bound for New York expected gray skies, heaving seas, and blustery winds during most of the voyage. During the depths of winter, spitting rain, howling gales, and monster waves would punish the steamship, send furniture and clothing flying through the air, and make everyone on board seasick. And then when the ship reached the Grand Banks, off the Canadian coast, thick fog would often roll in, making visibility close to zero. Most passengers were more than happy to stumble ashore after enduring two weeks of cramped quarters and nausea aboard a Cunard steamer.

After a decade of Cunard supremacy on the North Atlantic, one American tried to outdo the British in speed and luxury. During the 1850s, a New Englander named Edward Knight Collins was on the receiving end of a mail subsidy from Washington for steamship service between New York and Liverpool: a princely $385,000 a year. Three of his luxurious ships took the new Blue Riband, making 13 knots and beating the British ships by an average of seven hours.10 But after two of his money-losing ships sank and drowned hundreds of passengers, Congress killed the line’s subsidy. Urging the move was Collin’s unsubsidized rival in the transatlantic steamship business, a brash New Yorker named Cornelius Vanderbilt, known by the public as “the Commodore.” The Collins Line collapsed without the subsidy, but Vanderbilt’s transatlantic line also failed—he sold his ships and purchased the New York Central Railroad. While Washington gave away millions of acres of land out West to the railroads, the American merchant marine got little support.

After the Civil War, European companies dominated the transatlantic route. Supported by state mail contracts and construction subsidies, Cunard and its competitors made spectacular profits from carrying immigrants in cramped squalor and wealthy travelers in opulence. In 1871, Thomas Ismay, a cantankerous but shrewd Liverpool businessman, founded the White Star Line in a partnership with the Irish shipbuilder Harland & Wolff. Ismay’s company showcased British white-glove service to wealthy Americans, pleasing even the finicky historian Henry Adams, who marveled at how the transatlantic liner represented human progress.11 Another was a haughty, Hartford-born banker named John Pierpont Morgan. The young man was so impressed with the White Star Line that he dreamed of one day buying it.

Across the North Sea, two German companies, Norddeutscher Lloyd, based in Bremen, and the Hamburg-Amerikanische Packetfahrt-Actien-Gesellschaft, known as HAPAG, captured the lion’s share of the immigrant trade. HAPAG in particular profited immensely from transporting “huddled masses,” many of them Jewish pogrom refugees, from Eastern Europe to America. Packing immigrants into steerage bunks at twenty-five dollars a head translated to spectacular profits. The wünderkind of the German shipping business was a brilliant, diminutive Jew named Albert Ballin. Appointed HAPAG’s managing director in 1899, Ballin was a self-made man who strove to make his ships perfect. When ships like his Kaiserin Auguste Victoria or Amerika were in port, he prowled all over them, making note of the slightest deficiencies in service or appearances. He even hired the Ritz-Carlton company to operate specialty first class restaurants on board.12

The heated competition between Great Britain, Germany, and eventually France during the late nineteenth century spurred great technological advances, as lines plowed their vast profits into building bigger and faster ships. Progress was astounding. Liners grew from 3,000 gross tons to 10,000 gross tons, and lengths doubled from 300 feet to nearly 600.3

Ship construction moved from wood to iron, auxiliary sails were dropped, and paddle wheels were abandoned for the screw propeller. By the 1880s, first-class passengers could dine and read in public rooms lit by electricity, and enjoy hot and cold running water in their cabins. Engine technology also advanced rapidly. By the 1870s, British engineers had perfected the so-called compound engine. Here steam would pass through a series of three or four cylinders before being ejected into the condenser. So-called triple and quadruple expansion engines allowed for more steam pressure, which meant more speed.13 As a result, travel time between Liverpool and New York was cut from two weeks to just over six days, and top speeds approached 20 knots, double the speed of the first paddle-wheel liners. Ships were now boasting two screw propellers rather than just one.

Following the Civil War, a lone American steamship company was left to brave Atlantic waters. Philadelphia’s Clement Griscom had attracted the backing of the Pennsylvania Railroad and John D. Rockefeller’s Standard Oil Company, which saw a transatlantic service as a means to pick up where railroads ended, at the water’s edge. In 1871, Griscom’s American Steamship Company commissioned Cramp Shipyard to build four liners to carry passengers, oil, and bulk cargo between Philadelphia and Liverpool. Griscom, a bewhiskered, florid-faced Quaker, belonged to all the right Philadelphia clubs and had married a member of the famous Biddle family, but he also socialized with nouveau riche entrepreneurs like Peter Widener and drank a pint of champagne during the workday. Bored with the “proper Philadelphian” professions of medicine and law, Griscom intended to make a big splash on the world stage with his ships. To do it, he needed vast quantities of capital, as well as political support from Washington.

At first, Griscom faced near failure. His American Steamship Company lost so much money that the Pennsylvania Railroad refused to provide the additional cash Griscom needed to stay in business. An appeal to the federal government also failed. To keep going, the Philadelphia shipper negotiated a $100,000-a-year mail subsidy from the Belgian government for a new venture: the International Navigation Company, also known as the Red Star Line.14 Still somehow in business, Griscom then purchased the moribund British Inman Line in 1886 and ordered two new ships, City of Paris and City of New York, from a Scottish yard. At 10,000 gross tons each and with service speeds of over 20 knots, they were the largest and fastest ships of the day. Both captured the Blue Riband with ease, but they did so as “British ships,” thanks to American navigation laws that protected American industry. In a maneuver meant to protect American shipbuilders from cheaper foreign competition, Congress forbade foreign-built ships from flying the Stars and Stripes. The law backfired, however, as American ship owners either sold out their shipping interests (like Vanderbilt) or operated foreign-built fleets under foreign flags (like Griscom). When it came to building and operating ships, America remained at a major competitive disadvantage—European governments subsidized their passenger fleets, while the United States did not.

Griscom was undeterred and decided to use his now-famous ships to leverage a mail subsidy out of Washington. He told Congress that if his liners were granted American registry, he would kill the Inman Line, make the two vessels part of the fleet of a renewed American Line, and then build two new ships in an American yard. Congress agreed and passed a bill in 1892 that gave Griscom a mail subsidy of $12,400 per crossing.15 The following year, the crews of the renamed New York and Paris raised the American flag on their sternposts, and at the William Cramp & Sons Ship and Engine Building Company in Philadelphia, workers laid the keel plates for two new ships—St. Louis and St. Paul.

The American public hoped that their new transatlantic liners would take the Blue Riband from the current holder, the Cunard liner Lucania, whose best time was 5 days, 7 hours, and 23 minutes—just 5 hours and 46 minutes faster than Griscom’s 1892 winner, Paris.16 But neither St. Louis nor St. Paul could match Lucania’s pace. The British ship kept the prize until 1897, when a great four-funneled beast from imperial Germany, Kaiser Wilhelm der Grosse, snatched it away. The Norddeutscher Lloyd ship had managed an average speed of 22.5 knots, nearly three knots faster than the American ships and more than a half a knot faster than Lucania. There was consternation in the British public as the Germans humbled the nation’s best engineers.

But the German triumph did not deter Clement Griscom. Teaming up with financier J. P. Morgan, the Philadelphian hoped to buy every single transatlantic shipping line, European and American, and merge them into a gigantic shipping trust based in New York. The two men made a perfect team. Like Griscom, Morgan was from an old-line family that had been wealthy for generations. His huge physique reflected a gargantuan appetite for food, rare books, art, and mistresses. A hideous outbreak of rhinophyma left his nose bloated and purple, a condition that made him avoid photographers. But Morgan possessed a genius for deal making. The financial mastermind of the American industrial trusts, Morgan believed that consolidation was the future of American business. To him, investing in steamships was a good deal more interesting than steel, sugar, and oil—they awakened a lust in him equal to his passion for art and women. The transatlantic liner was the era’s ultimate status symbol, and Morgan vowed to own as many of them as he could. And to get his hands on them, he needed Griscom’s shipping savvy.

To break the European grip on the transatlantic trade, Griscom and Morgan would use the House of Morgan’s financial muscle to force all parties, American and foreign, into the trust. It would be called the International Mercantile Marine, a company that under another name would grow to become the largest and greatest American shipping firm, one that would be closely identified with the career of the young boy so awed by the christening of St. Louis.
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ESCAPING THE RICH BOYS

After the launch of the great St. Louis in November 1894, the bookish, sickly William Francis Gibbs began thinking and reading of nothing but ships. Back at his father’s mansion on North Broad Street, his bedroom was cluttered with technical publications that he quietly read into the night. Most he had borrowed from his father’s study.

A reclusive, high-strung child, little Willy Gibbs was tongue-tied and unnerved by the parade of business and social callers to his parents’ home. Once when an engineer who worked for his father came by, he found the Gibbs boy engrossed in a periodical.

“What are you reading, Francis?” the engineer asked.

The boy silently handed over an issue of Cassier’s, a sophisticated engineering trade journal.

“Good Lord!” the visitor exclaimed.

William Francis snatched the issue back and resumed his reading.1

Born on August 24, 1886, Willy grew up in the “let-the-poor-child-alone system of education,” a journalist wrote later, probably based on the child’s own adult recollections. His mother seemed to spoil him. “A sneeze was always good for a week at home. A slight cough was good for a month. A pronounced bark enabled him to stay away from school for an entire year.”2 He also forged a close bond with his younger brother, Frederic, born when William Francis Gibbs was still a twenty-month-old toddler. Both were fascinated not just with ships, but also firefighting equipment. They found a fellow enthusiast in the family’s coachman, a former Philadelphia fireman. If he heard about a fire somewhere in the city, he would rouse the boys from their sleep, hitch up the horses, and gallop with them into the dark corners of the industrial city. “Lumberyard fires are almost always terrific!” Gibbs later recalled.3

His parents, on the other hand, were not interested in showing Little Willy the rougher side of Philadelphia. They made sure their six children—William Francis had four older sisters in addition to his younger brother—grew up in Gilded Age opulence. Father William Warren Gibbs was also an avid reader of engineering journals, but he scanned them looking for ideas to back. He was not an inventor, but a promoter, a wheeler-dealer who had a knack for associating with other men of wealth and ambition. With his cronies, the entrepreneurs Peter Widener and William Elkins, Gibbs shrewdly chose some “respectable” men to sit on the board of the United Gas Improvement Company, which by the 1890s had enriched many of Philadelphia’s oldest families and earned an infamous reputation for political corruption.4 He also possessed a smooth tongue and legendary powers of persuasion. The former provost of the University of Pennsylvania, the patrician Dr. William Pepper Jr., once tried to solicit a donation to his Ivy League institution from William Warren Gibbs. A fifty-thousand-dollar contribution would help Gibbs’s social standing, the distinguished physician hinted. But the middle school dropout deftly turned the tables on Pepper, convincing him to purchase stock in a new venture: Marsden Cellulose, which sold ground-up coconut shells to insulate battleships.5 The New York Times reported that the smelly material was “unhealthful and breeds vermin.”6

Mother Frances used her husband’s vast wealth to throw lavish parties. At one of her fêtes, the ballroom of a Philadelphia hotel became a “magnificent apartment of the period of Louis XIV . . . enhanced by profuse decorations of palms, ferns, and American beauty roses.”7 To cap off a season at their summer home in Spring Lake on the New Jersey shore, the Gibbs family hosted a “bal poudre”—the guests wore powdered wigs and hair.8 When the Gibbs’s eldest daughter, Augusta May, married sportsman William Hamilton Tevis Huhn in 1899, a reporter marveled at the wedding gifts on display at the Gibbs home, noting that “one large room could not hold the great amount of cut glass, silver, in plate and in service, rare china, ornaments and bric-a-brac.”9

But their efforts at social acceptance were in vain: Philadelphia snobbery held that the Gibbs family mansion on rich and opulent North Broad Street was on the wrong side of Market Street, the demarcation line separating “fashionable society” from the nouveaux riche.

For the Philadelphia elite, family pedigree was all that mattered, and lack of it sometimes drove turn-of-the-century strivers out of the city altogether. One poor but supremely talented Harvard Law School graduate, raised “north of Market” by his widowed mother, was warned by an Old Philadelphia lawyer: “They’ll never take you seriously in this town—in New York your grades will count for something.”10 Young John J. McCloy took the advice, got a job with New York corporate lawyer Paul Cravath, and rose to become “the Chairman of the Establishment” under the aegis of the Rockefeller family.

William Warren and Frances Gibbs, however, were determined to stay in Philadelphia and launch their children into proper society. With that in mind, in 1899 the Gibbs family acquired an address above all social reproach: a mansion fronting Rittenhouse Square, the most prestigious neighborhood in Philadelphia. Behind the doors of its high-stooped town houses, a visitor could hear the sounds of privilege: clocks ticking on marble mantelpieces, the clink of crystal, and the quick, soft steps of Irish maids.

The three-story, yellow brick mansion at 1733 Walnut Street, commanding the northeast corner of the square, was sold to William Warren Gibbs by banker Anthony Joseph Drexel Jr.11 A prominent Rittenhouse Square address announced that after eighteen years in Philadelphia, the Gibbs family had finally arrived. That same year, they were listed in the Philadelphia Social Register for the first time.

The socially awkward young William Francis Gibbs took to the big yellow house immediately; its vast size offered him privacy and seclusion. For twelve hours a day he would read, doodle, and tinker. Since William Francis avoided social contact with schoolmates, his closest companion continued to be his younger brother, Frederic, who, like his father, had a talent for mathematics and finance. At the family’s summer home on the New Jersey shore, he sat for hours on the veranda watching ships sail in and out of New York harbor. He and Frederic also traveled to Philadelphia’s leafy suburbs to play tennis on the grass courts of the Germantown and Merion cricket clubs. When they were older, they would play against a talented boy named Bill Tilden.

“We played against Tilden, and sometimes we won!” William Francis would recall about his matches against the future Wimbledon champion.12

By the time they were teenagers, the tennis trophies cluttered the upstairs bedrooms of the Rittenhouse Square mansion. Frustrated, their mother Frances scolded her sons, insisting it was “a little vulgar to display them all.”13 No matter. A good lawn tennis player—someone who played by the rules without losing his cool—was synonymous with being a true gentleman, a perception that must have pleased the Gibbs parents.

The boys also got the chance to travel abroad. When he was twelve, his parents packed little Willy off to Europe with an older cousin. But what stood out in his mind were not the cathedrals and museums, but a library in Switzerland packed full of engineering publications. On a later trip home aboard the White Star Line’s new liner Celtic, then the biggest ship in the world, William Francis and Frederic Gibbs constructed a house out of blocks in their first-class stateroom. The slow but plush British liner was so steady that the block house remained standing for the entire eight-day trip.14 The young Gibbs was fully aware that smaller, more powerful ships than Celtic were making headlines by crossing the Atlantic in less than six days, and that newer European ships had far eclipsed the American Line’s St. Louis in size, speed, and luxury.

Because of his poor health, Gibbs was not sent to one of the Episcopal boarding schools that served the children of the northeastern elite. Instead he was enrolled at the De Lancey School, an easy walk from the family home. De Lancey advertised itself as providing the rigors of a Groton education while allowing the children to live at home.15 And for reclusive Willy, this was a good thing. In addition, it appears that De Lancey was a more intellectual place than its New England counterparts, which had been modeled after the muscular Eton and its playing fields.

Illness continued to dog Gibbs. He did not graduate from De Lancey until he was nearly twenty. In his class of seniors, nearly half went to Harvard, most of the rest to the University of Pennsylvania.16 He applied to Harvard most likely at his father’s insistence; it was, of course, a place better known for cultivating gentlemen than naval architects.

By today’s standards, Gibbs’s college application was abysmally unimpressive. His high school transcript was peppered with C’s and D’s. He flunked Latin, French, and oddly enough, advanced algebra. Nevertheless, a member of the selection committee of Harvard’s Lawrence Scientific School stamped “Admitted” on his application card, on condition that he get a passing grade in a foreign language after enrollment.17 That the boy came from a very rich family must have been decisive. But the Lawrence Scientific School, later Harvard’s Graduate School of Engineering, might also have known something of his powerful, self-driven interest in engineering and ships.

In September 1906, the twenty-year-old William Francis Gibbs, now a gangly six feet, two inches tall, boarded a train for Boston. His father did not want his son to study engineering, because William Warren Gibbs believed engineers were impractical and inarticulate—qualities that would not recommend a man to the people who mattered. He wanted a different life for his eldest son: an elite university education, a respectable legal profession, and the social status the law would guarantee. In short, the life that entrepreneurial, risk-taking William Warren Gibbs had never had.

Strangely, William Francis’s younger brother, Frederic, did not immediately continue on to college at eighteen. One possibility is that like William Francis, he was a late bloomer as a student. Or maybe their seemingly high-flying parents had their own reasons to conserve cash by the time William Francis left for Cambridge. In the end, Frederic never got a college education.

Gibbs was passionate about ocean liners, but did not seem to possess the technical aptitude, financial savvy, and force of will that was needed to build giant machines for hard-nosed shipping men, visionaries like Samuel Cunard, Albert Ballin, Clement Griscom, and J. P. Morgan.

His parents also must have worried that their reclusive son would have a tough time at Harvard, with its demanding academics and conformist social scene.

Freshman William Francis Gibbs entered Harvard when the famed William James was still chairman of its philosophy department. The great pragmatist crowed about the college, “Our undisciplinables are our proudest product!”18

But one new undergraduate was miserable in Cambridge.

It was the waning tenure of university president Charles Eliot, and Harvard had yet to complete its transition from a finishing school for rich boys from Boston, New York, and Philadelphia into a world-class teaching and research university. Many undergraduates coasted through classes, and spent hours drinking in the private “Gold Coast” dormitories and the elite social clubs lining Mount Auburn Street.

The young Philadelphian with an immensely wealthy father was immediately accepted as a respectable “Gold Coaster.” Gibbs took up residence in Claverly Hall, a Georgian brick pile that boasted wood-paneled walls, a sweeping grand staircase, and a small electric elevator. But unlike most students in Claverly, Gibbs showed no interest in the hijinks and hilarity typical of the turn-of-the-century “Harvard Man.” William Francis continued to spend his free hours much as he had in his family’s Walnut Street mansion. He read technical journals, pored over blueprints of British battleships, and drew. The budding designer approached the plans of these ships with “great deference.” But that could not stop him from carefully rearranging their engine spaces, or adding more watertight bulkheads, imagining what might be done to increase speed or keep a ship afloat if it were struck by enemy shells or torpedoes. “What’s the next step?” he would ask himself as he examined each engineering masterpiece.19

The boy’s growing understanding of design came at a time when naval ideas were in ferment. The rout of Russia’s navy in the Russo-Japanese War, which had occurred just a year before Gibbs left for college, showed what could happen to an outmoded and unprepared fleet. Britain was steaming ahead with new technologies and strategies, but many American naval officers—certainly, some of the naval thinkers in the journals Gibbs was reading—felt the United States was not keeping up. They pointed to the Navy’s failure to implement British naval advances to modernize its own fleet, and the serious lack of coordination between progressive Navy engineers and hidebound line officers. Studying the latest articles and ship blueprints in his dorm room, the intensely patriotic Gibbs began to see a role for himself in rebuilding the American Navy.

To many of his classmates, the preoccupied student from Philadelphia was a strange one. He was painfully shy, and later recalled that some of the loud-mouthed, arrogant scions of privilege “filled him with alarm.”20 Terrified of being bullied, he kept the door to his room locked to protect his blueprints and ship photographs from mockery and practical jokes.21

Photos of Gibbs taken during his time at Harvard show a young man in a long dressing gown with a sash and striped lapels, looking profoundly lonely. In one picture he stands against his dresser, his right arm draped over a pile of books. In another he sits in a chair next to his room’s fireplace, his hands clasped over his lap. Instead of college pennants, the walls are covered with photographs and prints: warships with smoking funnels and fine automobiles. A basket with rolled-up blueprints sits by his desk at the window.22

In fact, Gibbs was not alone in rejecting conventional collegiate life. Classmate John Reed, who would play a role in the Russian Revolution of 1917, remembered students who “criticized the faculty for not educating them, attacked the sacred institution of intercollegiate athletics, sneered at the undergraduate clubs so holy that no one dared mention their names.”23 Other members of the famous Harvard Class of 1910 were poet T. S. Eliot and future political pundit Walter Lippmann.

Yet for most boys, Harvard was a place to solidify ties begun in a privileged childhood and to extend them into an even more privileged adulthood. This created a powerful ethos of social exclusion and conformity. Future Harvard professor Samuel Eliot Morison, Class of 1908, portrayed the college’s social sorting system as a cruel machine, noting that, “once having ‘made’ a club, you could reassert your individuality; often by that time you had none.”24

As a prep school–educated Protestant, Gibbs had the right background, but the final clubs—exclusive societies that set the college’s social tone—showed no interest in a quiet oddball who shut himself up in his room. For his part, Gibbs relished his difference. Still, there were times he feared that he would be labeled “the eeriest of all the eccentrics in three centuries of Harvard life if it were known that he was busy improving British battleships.”25

In the Class of 1910 album, Gibbs listed no extracurricular activities. But he did serve a socially obligatory stint of service as an usher at Saturday football games. There, with a red usher’s ribbon pinned to his coat, he would shepherd wildly enthusiastic fans to their seats in the recently constructed Harvard Stadium, where they watched matches so fierce that the collisions sometimes killed players on the grassy field below.26 But the only sport Gibbs played himself was tennis—a noncontact, solitary game of individual skill and determination.

The future naval designer had problems in his engineering classes, for reasons that Gibbs never later discussed. He had not been a successful high school student, if success were measured by grades. Years of intermittent schooling, when he was sick as a child, may have trumped the compulsion to do everything by the book. And for all his solitary studying, he did not impress his engineering professors. At the end of his first year, he received C minuses in “Descriptive Geometry” and “Mechanism—Study of Gearing and Gearing Mechanisms.” His best grade was a B in “Steam Machinery,” a subject he knew well from reading trade journals.27 Underlying it all may have been a basic inadequacy: Gibbs had trouble with simple math. An observer noticed the following later in life: “Gibbs is afraid of arithmetic. An eight-year-old child can beat him at adding, subtracting, and dividing. He won’t trust figures until a machine has gone over them three times.”28

Gibbs would later insist he never took a formal course in naval architecture at Harvard or anywhere else: “I studied engineering at night out of books.” For emphasis, he added, “That’s the way to really learn things—by yourself.”29 Highly intelligent, with a powerful visual sense and an astonishing memory for details, he did eventually master the mathematics needed to pursue work as an engineer, something that required singular focus and will.

But the freshman boy was not yet an achiever. At the end of the 1906–1907 academic year, Harvard University recorder George Cram wrote Gibbs’s father a stern letter, warning him that if William Francis did not get his engineering grades up and fulfill his language requirement, “he will have to register again as a first-year student.”30

On October 30, 1907, in his second year, Gibbs withdrew from Harvard College. “On account of sickness,” the college report noted, but that was almost certainly not the case. He and his brother, Frederic, had other plans for November 1907, with Gibbs thinking he could regroup academically later, after a little adventure.

William Francis also must have been worried about his family back in Philadelphia. His parents had swaddled him in protective luxury all his life, carefully ensuring that their son would only associate with people of their own class. But within a few years, the poor little rich boy would have to confront a very unpleasant reality: his father’s success was not as solid as it appeared.

By the time George Cram’s letter arrived on William Warren Gibbs’s desk, the great Philadelphia promoter had big worries of his own. Throughout early 1907, the American stock market had been volatile and falling. Soon enough, the trouble on Wall Street impacted the banks and trust companies, creating a crisis that would come to be known as the Panic of 1907. It was not a good time for companies to be indebted, and the timing seems to have been especially bad for Gibbs’s father.

Although by all appearances financially secure, William Warren Gibbs had skated on thin ice any number of times during his career. As early as 1891, he had found himself $3 million in debt after he failed in a bid to take control of the Philadelphia & Reading Railroad. But Gibbs eventually repaid the money, and went on to make more.31 Then rumors began circulating that one of his enterprises was not all it seemed, and the Philadelphia Inquirer hinted that William Warren Gibbs might have crossed the line between aggressive tactics and fraud. “It is quietly likely,” the paper reported, “that some of the shareholders of record of the Alkali Company [will] unite . . . and make a test case.”32

William Warren had organized the American Alkali Company in 1899 to manufacture bleach and soda powder for use in paper mills. He purchased British patents and built a factory in Sault Ste. Marie, Canada. Two years after putting together the company and promoting its stock, he had retired from active management. The accusations began almost immediately. In the April 1902 shareholder lawsuit, plaintiffs alleged William Warren Gibbs had siphoned off an illegal $349,597 in cash, 15,900 shares of preferred stock, and 151,800 shares of common stock in a secret transaction with a British company.33 The “fraudulent scheme” was “concocted by Gibbs,” the New York Times wrote in March 1902, adding that “he misappropriated to himself and his appointees excessive salaries.” Most damning was the allegation that the company’s Canadian plant made nothing at all, and that the patents were worthless.34

The American Alkali Company ended up in receivership with $300 in assets.35 By April 1905, William Warren Gibbs was forced to settle with the preferred shareholders and the receiver; his assets in the company, totaling $50,000, were put up for sale.36 Philadelphia society must have whispered that William Francis Gibbs’s father was a crook.

It is inconceivable that the son knew nothing of the scandal. How much he knew of his father’s declining personal finances is less clear. Life at elegant 1733 Walnut Street seems to have gone on as usual, at least for a while, but sometime around the time Gibbs left for Harvard, his parents mortgaged their grand mansion and asked friends for a $60,000 second mortgage to cover family expenses.37 His father’s slide was on.

As William Warren Gibbs’s fortunes dimmed, his onetime gas company partner Clement Griscom’s brightened, thanks to his close ties with J. P. Morgan. Their shipping trust, the International Mercantile Marine (IMM), was working to put American leadership—if not necessarily American ships—back in the transatlantic game. Their American board of directors was an all-star team of the nation’s smartest, most aggressive businessmen. Among them was Peter Widener, by now the richest man in Philadelphia through his investments in streetcars, electric batteries, oil refining, and gas lines. Much of Widener’s wealth had come from his partnerships with William Warren Gibbs. But neither Widener nor Griscom asked the former wizard of United Gas Improvement and the Electric Storage Battery Company, who was now tainted by the American Alkali scandal, to serve on the board of their new maritime trust.

IMM was put forward to American travelers and policy makers as a way to bring order to a chaotic shipping system routinely shaken by rate wars. Accordingly, Griscom argued that an international shipping monopoly would be a public benefit. “The object of combination is to try to give better transatlantic service at a decreased cost,” he said, and promised daily, on-time departures from New York to Europe.38 Yet rate stability (or as some asserted, driving competitors out of business) was not the only thing Morgan and Griscom wanted. Under the 1817 U.S. Navigation Act, only ships built in the United States could fly the American flag (and receive American subsidies). But it was still cheaper to build new ships abroad, and British-flagged vessels were much less expensive to staff and operate than American liners. Backed by Morgan’s capital, the huge combination could build larger and faster ships at a pace that independent lines could not match.

Morgan and Griscom nearly got things right. Within a few years, many transatlantic passenger lines sold out to the trust. In addition to Morgan and Griscom’s original American Line, IMM grew to include Belgium’s Red Star Line and four British lines: Leyland; Shaw Savill & Albion; Dominion; and the famed White Star Line.

The French and German lines were next on Morgan and Griscom’s list. The French Line was capable of resisting Morgan because it was a quasi-governmental agency. The two big German lines did not have such protection, although Kaiser Wilhelm II strongly supported keeping German ships German. So HAPAG’s cagey Ballin struck a deal to keep his company independent and maintain control over his highly profitable immigrant business. The German lines would be part of a profit-sharing arrangement with IMM, while also agreeing that neither party would acquire stock in the other’s enterprises. HAPAG and its rival Norddeutscher Lloyd would pay IMM a percentage of their dividends, and IMM would pay the two companies a fixed annual sum. The two sides agreed, in short, to take in each other’s laundry.39

IMM’s $32 million buyout of the White Star Line caused an uproar with the British public. They saw Morgan as robbing Britannia of its prized commercial fleet, considered one of the Empire’s crown jewels. Not only that, but Morgan appointed White Star’s chairman, J. Bruce Ismay, the new president of IMM.

Britain’s one surviving big transatlantic line, the illustrious Cunard Steamship Company, refused to sell out, even though the company was strapped for capital. Chairman Lord Inverclyde “resolutely opposed any such absorption of the Cunard Line, which, more than any other, had become a national institution.”40 To keep IMM’s hooks out of Cunard, Inverclyde turned to British prime minister Balfour and the Admiralty for help. The company and the government agreed that “no foreigner shall be qualified to hold office as a director of the company or to be employed as one of the principal officers of the company; and no shares of the company shall be held by, or in trust by, or be in any way under the control of any foreigner or foreign corporation, or any corporation under foreign control.”41 Now Britain’s greatest transatlantic shipping company was Morgan-proof.

More help would be needed for Cunard to compete against Morgan’s clout, and the British nation supplied it. Cunard received a low-interest government loan of £2.6 million to construct two large, fast passenger liners in British yards.42 Each ship would be 790 feet long and of 30,000 gross tons, making them a third larger than any of their German competitors. In addition, the Admiralty would pay Cunard a handsome operating subsidy of £150,000 per year. Cunard, for its part, agreed that should war ever break out, the two superliners could be taken over by the Admiralty and converted into armed merchant cruisers. This would make the ships not only the biggest, fastest liners ever, but warships in disguise. There was little protest from British taxpayers; national honor was at stake.43

Cunard got to work building what would be the two greatest ships in the world. Their keels were laid in 1904 and they were launched in 1906. Both were christened with imperial-sounding names: Lusitania, after the Roman province of Portugal, and Mauretania, after the Roman province of North Africa.

A year later, William Francis Gibbs, free of college and accompanied by his brother, Frederic, was going to sail on both of them. Somehow, in spite of their family’s financial problems, they got enough money out of their father for round-trip tickets to Europe.
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MAURETANIA

On November 7, 1907, the Swan, Hunter & Wigham of Newcastle, England, shipyard team took the new Cunard flagship Mauretania out on her trial runs. Captain John Pritchard made a series of twelve-hour runs, up and down a 304-mile course along the Scottish coast. The new ship and crew fought fierce Atlantic winds, rising at one point to a force 7 gale, or wind speeds approaching 40 miles an hour. On the bridge, Mauretania’s chief designer, Andrew Laing, hovered closely around Captain Pritchard. After two runs with the wind and two against, Laing was jubilant. Over the course of nearly forty-eight hours, the four-funneled Mauretania had averaged 26.06 knots over 1,216 nautical miles.1 This was nearly three knots faster than her German rivals.

The Scotsman Laing, the most accomplished marine engineer in Great Britain, had designed engines for record-breaking Cunarders for the last twenty-five years. He wanted this ship to take back the Blue Riband. His feeling was shared by Mauretania’s entire crew, from the officers on the bridge to the sweat-drenched stokers heaving coal into the ship’s furnaces below. It was not, now, a matter of beating the Germans. One month earlier, on only her second run, Mauretania’s sister ship Lusitania (designed by Leonard Peskett and built by the rival John Brown yard in Scotland) had taken the Blue Riband—twice: eastbound, besting Norddeutscher Lloyd’s Kaiser Wilhelm II; and westbound, beating HAPAG’s Deutschland.

The crew of Mauretania felt that they had the better ship. “We’ll lick the Lucy,” cried one of the stokers as he clanked his shovel against the boiler grate on the delivery run from Newcastle to Southampton, “even if we bust the Mary to do it!”2

Nine days after the trial runs, on November 16, 1907, William Francis and Frederic Gibbs leaned over Mauretania’s railings. As a hard rain fell, they looked up and down the Liverpool landing stage and saw it crowded with thousands of waving, cheering well-wishers.

They had been part of such a scene before, when they left New York on her sister Lusitania less than one month before. Although they had traveled on big ships as children, these Cunard liners set a new standard for size and luxury. The Gibbs brothers relished the newness and thrilled at the speed of Lusitania. They ran all over the ship, probably comparing her to the blueprints of the British warships William Francis had stashed in his dorm room. While other passengers remained in the warmth of the ship’s paneled Georgian salons, he spent hours with the wind whipping in his face, leaning over the railing and watching Lusitania’s knifelike prow cut through the gray Atlantic at nearly 30 miles an hour.

Now, on the westbound maiden voyage of the bigger, more powerful Mauretania, they hoped to see another record fall. This crossing would be one to remember.

Below the Gibbs boys, Mauretania’s hundreds of electric lights cast a bright glow on the crowds and flickered off the gray harbor waters. Wisps of black coal smoke curled lazily from the ship’s four red-and-black stacks, each of which towered several stories above her brilliantly illuminated uppermost decks. On board, first-class passengers unpacked in their staterooms and then explored the public rooms, all paneled in gilt-trimmed walnut, sycamore, and mahogany carved by three hundred artisans brought in from Palestine.3 She looked like a British country house put to sea. Gone were the days of the nineteenth-century wooden paddle-wheel steamer, with its stiff bunks, chamber pots, and pervasive stink of bilgewater. On board Mauretania, men dressed for dinner in white tie and tails, women retrieved their jewels from the purser’s office, and the first-class kitchen rivaled the one at the London Ritz. Sheets were changed each day, fresh flowers bloomed in the foyers, and an onboard printing press churned out menus and newspapers for two thousand passengers in three classes. Second-class passengers enjoyed spacious public rooms comparable to first-class spaces on older vessels. Those traveling steerage had private staterooms rather than open dormitories, as well as their own deck space.

The modern ocean liner, a swift and sleek city afloat, had arrived.

As Mauretania headed out to sea, William Francis and Frederic Gibbs inspected the new Cunard superliner. They marveled at the two-deck-high first-class dining saloon, the newfangled electric elevators, and the lounge with its frosted glass dome. Strains of Strauss’s “Blue Danube” and Léhar’s “Merry Widow” accompanied passengers at dinner. There was at least one Philadelphian on board whom the Gibbs brothers may have chatted with at dinner: Anthony Drexel Jr., the Philadelphia banker who had sold 1733 Walnut Street to their father; Drexel booked one of the liner’s Regal Suites, which went for $1,500 per person one-way (almost $35,000 today).4 First class aboard Mauretania was a luxurious, civilized sphere to which the Gibbs brothers had been accustomed since birth.

As splendid as the new ship was, what interested the Gibbs boys most was what was pulsing steadily beneath their feet. Lusitania and Mauretania were not only the two largest liners in the world, but the first Blue Riband contenders to use a new kind of engine: the steam turbine. And watching a great ship’s engines, William Francis would later say, gave him the same thrill as listening to the music of Bach.5

Germany’s four turn-of-the-century Blue Riband holders—Kaiser Wilhelm der Grosse, Deutschland, Kronprinz Wilhelm, and Kaiser Wilhelm II—all used massive quadruple reciprocating expansion engines, whose four steam chambers produced maximum power for an otherwise traditional piston engine. By 1900, reciprocating engines had hit a brick wall in terms of horsepower—they were getting too big and heavy, and it seemed that 23 knots was the maximum speed a big ship could reach. Even worse, as thumping pistons turned twin propeller shafts, the German ships shook, quite literally from stem to stern. Glasses crashed off tables and bunks trembled all night long. Many sleep-deprived travelers called the hard-riding HAPAG record breaker Deutschland the “Cocktail Shaker.”6

The new British ships, on the other hand, took advantage of an experimental power plant, invented in 1884 by Charles Parsons. The steam turbine operated on the same principle as a windmill. High-pressure steam from the boilers would be blasted against a rotor lined with thousands of tiny blades. The spinning rotor would be connected to a propeller shaft. The result was a faster, more efficient engine that took up much less space.

Parsons demonstrated just how good his engine was when he crashed the 1897 Naval Review at Spithead. The event, meant to celebrate Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, turned into a vehicle for Charles Parsons to promote his hundred-foot-long Turbinia. A brash Parsons zipped his nimble craft between battleships and cruisers at an incredible 34 knots (39 land miles per hour), evading a pursuing navy pilot boat. Even the aged Queen Victoria was astonished by the performance of the strange craft. Although many in the Royal Navy were outraged, others took notice and began to investigate installing turbines on new British warships.7

The steam turbine proved to be one of the greatest breakthroughs in engineering history, allowing ships to achieve unprecedented speeds. In 1906, the debut of the British battleship HMS Dreadnought, the first large warship to abandon the traditional reciprocating engine, intensified the ongoing naval arms race between Great Britain and Germany. With turbines connected to quadruple screws, Dreadnought could cruise at a steady 21 knots, making her the fastest battleship in the world. Yet even before launch of the Dreadnought, British engineers had already adopted turbine technology for use in passenger ships. In 1905, Cunard built two large sister ships: one was powered by reciprocating engines, while the other by Parsons turbines. The turbine vessel proved to be more than a knot faster, as well as quieter and more economical to operate.8

Cunard was finally sold on turbines. They were installed in both Lusitania and Mauretania, and there were more innovations as well. For the first time on a commercial liner, the ships would have not two, but four propellers. The arrangement meant engine torque would be more evenly distributed, lessening the risk of breakdown. Inspired to match the powerful physical appearance of the German ships, the designers gave each ship four raked funnels, wide and long enough to fit a locomotive inside. And while the engines of the Norddeutscher Lloyd flagship Kaiser Wilhelm II were rated at 45,000 horsepower, those of the Cunard ships were each rated at over 70,000.

The contract to build Lusitania was awarded to John Brown & Company of Clydebank, Scotland. Mauretania’s went to Swan, Hunter & Wigham in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, England, with engine construction subcontracted to Andrew Laing at Wallsend. The two-contract arrangement stoked Andrew Laing’s competitive fires. From the start, it appeared that the Swan, Hunter–built ship would be the mechanically superior of the two. To make his engines lighter than Lusitania’s, Laing chose a new steel alloy called Whitworth fluid-pressed steel for many of the turbine elements. Laing also eliminated extra parts to ensure that the assemblies would have “maximum strength and rigidity with a minimum weight.” Each ten-foot-diameter rotor was strung with three million tiny blades. The completed rotor was then placed inside a cast-iron casing.9 Because of clearances of only a tenth of an inch, the slightest defect along the rotor’s forty-five-foot length would cause the blades to rub against the turbine casing and strip them, completely destroying the engine. But when run for the first time, less than a week before her November 7 trials, the turbines spun in perfect balance.10

Everyone aboard Mauretania, including the Gibbs brothers, thought that their ship would take the Blue Riband on her maiden voyage in November 1907. But as soon as she left the Irish coast behind, a terrific autumn gale hit the liner. Great waves lifted the bow sixty feet into the air only to send it smacking back down, unleashing gigantic bursts of spray. Despite her smoother turbine power plant, engineers at the trial runs noticed that vibration from Mauretania’s four thrashing propellers sent shudders throughout the entire ship, and so they had added stiffeners throughout the stern to solve the problem. The storm on this maiden voyage made any vibration problems irrelevant to her passengers—Mauretania’s relatively slim underwater hull made her a bad roller.

Nearly sixty years earlier, Charles Dickens had endured a winter gale aboard Cunard’s first transatlantic liner, the wooden paddle wheeler Britannia. “Before it is possible to make any arrangement at all compatible with this novel state of things, the ship rights,” the wretchedly seasick novelist wrote. “Before one could say ‘Thank Heaven!’ she wrongs again. . . . All is grand, and all appalling and horrible in the last degree. . . . Only a dream can call it up again in all its fury, rage, and passion.”11 Despite decades of progress in ship design, Dickens’s description of life aboard a ship during a four-day gale could easily have been written of Mauretania’s maiden voyage. A rogue wave broke a row of first-class cabin windows, drenching clothes and bed linens. In the first-class lounge, a large walnut display case ripped away from the bulkhead and crashed to the floor, hurling glass shards everywhere.12 For the seven hundred largely Irish immigrants in steerage, the experience was absolutely terrifying. Tightly packed into the forward part of the ship, they were subjected to the worst of the ship’s motion as Mauretania heaved and plunged in the storm. Mothers held screaming babies tightly in their arms, as spilled porridge and vomit sloshed across tables and onto the floor. But it was even worse for the “black gang” down in the gloom of the boiler rooms, where dozens of sooty stokers struggled to feed the furnaces. When Captain Pritchard saw steam pressure gauges dropping, an officer would squawk into the ship’s telephone, “More steam, more steam!” Chief Engineer John Currie strode up and down the boiler room alleys, yelling to his men as they heaved shovels of coal into the glowing fires. “Steady boys!” he bellowed. “Now keep her going and all work together.”13

The second night out, with the storm going strong, passengers woke to a tremendous thud. Fearing the ship had hit something, they clambered up on deck to see that waves had torn loose the ten-ton spare anchor and sent it sliding across the forecastle deck. Pritchard slowed Mauretania and descended from the bridge in the driving rain and howling wind to face the problem. After an hour and a half of herculean effort, the crew resecured the anchor before it could gouge a hole in the deck. The soaked Pritchard returned to the bridge and Mauretania resumed her westward course.14

“Show me the captain of a transatlantic liner, and I’ll show you a religious man,” William Francis Gibbs would say later. “Out there in dirty weather, you feel like nothing, and you have to believe.”15 He might have been one of the awestruck passengers who watched Mauretania’s crew struggle with the anchor that night; it is hard to imagine that the ship-obsessed twenty-one-year-old kept to his stateroom for much of the voyage at all. He would have known in advance all that had been written about Mauretania; this was his chance to investigate its workings firsthand. Exploring other designers’ ships, even if he had to be covert, was a habit he was to keep all his life.

On the fourth day, the storm subsided and the sun shone on the gently rolling waves of the Atlantic. Pritchard ordered a full head of steam, and Mauretania picked up speed, smoke trailing from her four funnels. That day, the ship made 624 miles at an average speed of 25.83 knots, a world record for a single day’s run.

On the fifth day, a dense fog rolled in. For safety, Pritchard slowed the liner to a crawl, and all hopes of breaking Lusitania’s record vanished. When she arrived in New York on the wet, dreary afternoon of November 22, she had completed the run in 5 days, 5 hours, and 10 minutes, which was four hours more than Lusitania’s maiden run. The average crossing speed was just 21.22 knots, only slightly faster than the old St. Louis, built a decade before.16

To express their gratitude, the passengers collected nine hundred dollars for the stokers and engineers. Mauretania had not won the Blue Riband, but she had proved her potential as a seagoing thoroughbred. After the ship tied up at Pier 54 on the Hudson River, the head of Swan, Hunter shipyard boasted, “Not a bolt or screw about the engines was wrong. The vessel will continue to clip a little bit off the records each time she sails for some time to come.”17

His prediction proved true. In 1909, after two years of swapping the record back and forth with her sister, Mauretania decisively captured the Blue Riband with a record eastbound crossing time of 4 days, 10 hours, and 51 minutes at an average speed of 26.06 knots. Mauretania would become the most famous and successful ship of its time, beloved by hundreds of thousands of travelers. For devotees of great ships, she was a model of elegance in form and function. “The Mauretania always fascinated me,” said Franklin Delano Roosevelt, then a young New York lawyer, “with her yacht-like lines—her four enormous black topped funnels—her appearance of power and good breeding.”18

It was an appreciation of marine design that the young Gibbs shared with the future president—a lover of ships, who would later work with his fellow Harvard man to rebuild the American Navy.

On November 22, 1907, as Mauretania eased into her New York pier for the first time, a financial storm was brewing only a few blocks away. Wall Street was about to change forever William Francis Gibbs’s sense of place in the world. As the weary passengers disembarked at Pier 54, stevedores carefully unloaded $12.9 million of gold bullion from Mauretania’s strong room. Bound for the vaults of the Treasury Department in Washington, the gold was evidence of an international financial panic.19

The Panic of 1907 had begun earlier that year with industrial failures and a sharply falling stock market. By autumn, the prominent Knickerbocker Trust Company had failed, and one bank after another followed. The shock began to ripple beyond the financial markets. Angry swarms of depositors lined up outside of banks hoping to retrieve their savings before tellers ran out of cash. For William Francis Gibbs’s father, a big risk taker, the panic was a fatal blow.

Exactly what happened to all William Warren Gibbs’s supposed millions following the American Alkali scandal and the panic is unclear. Appearances were kept up, though the family was in debt simply from living expenses. In September 1908 Gibbs reenrolled at Harvard and moved back into Claverly Hall. He switched his concentration from engineering to economics, and excelled. Indeed, he was doing so well that he was excused from some of his final exams.20 At the end of his third year of studies, the economics department recommended that William Francis Gibbs receive a bachelor of science degree in economics, magna cum laude—on condition that he completed his pesky language requirement. It seemed that he had finally found himself academically.

But the spring of 1910 spelled the end of his time at Harvard. On April 8, one of the giant iron gates at the entry of the Gibbs mansion tore away from rusted hinges, fell toward the street, and crushed an eight-year-old newsboy to death. A photograph appeared in the papers the next day showing an elaborately scrolled gate resting on its side against one of the stone entrance portals. A young boy, probably a fellow “newsie,” stands next to the gate, a sour expression on his face.21 Shortly after the accident, the Gibbs family moved out of their Walnut Street mansion, decamping to a small rented house in the Main Line suburb of Haverford. The tragedy may have provided an excuse, but rumors floated through Philadelphia’s drawing rooms that William Warren Gibbs had not left his prized home voluntarily.

In June 1910, William Francis Gibbs’s original college class graduated. A Harvard dean reminded Gibbs that he still hadn’t fulfilled his German requirement. He never did, and he later claimed he left Harvard because he flunked Latin. Most likely he dropped out because his father could no longer afford the cost of tuition and his fancy room in Claverly Hall.

The Gibbs family’s losses were confirmed on December 2, 1910, when the Philadelphia’s sheriff office seized 1733 Walnut Street and transferred it to the holders of the first mortgage of nearly $180,000—over $4 million today. The couple also defaulted on the second mortgage of $60,000 put up by friends.22 The vaunted $15 million that the Gibbs family had once been said to possess had vanished. None of their rich friends seems to have come to their aid.

Sometime earlier that year, William Warren had pulled his oldest son aside for a talk. A humiliated father wanted to make sure that his son would become a respectable lawyer who would earn the steady, good salary needed to support his family. An unhappy son made a deal with his father. He would finish his undergraduate degree at Columbia and then attend its law school. To pay for both, he would work at the same time. He then agreed to practice law for a year and send money home. After a year, his father told him sternly, he could do what he wanted.23

During the years Gibbs spent at Columbia, 1910 to 1913, the former Gibbs mansion at 1733 Walnut Street sat vacant. Its windows, through which passersby could once see light streaming from crystal chandeliers, now showed nothing inside but a dark, skull-like emptiness. The abandoned house was finally sold to a developer, who wanted to build a luxury apartment building on the site.24 The wreckers hacked away at the brick walls, tore out paneling, and broke up a fountain in the reception room, which according to a newspaper report had once “delighted all beholders with the beautiful effects produced by the water flowing over a bewildering number of incandescent bulbs.”25

Twenty-six-year-old William Francis Gibbs did not appear to have looked back. He graduated from law school and went to work in a small New York firm that specialized in real estate law. Each month, he sent money home to support his father and the rest of the family: mother Frances, brother Frederic—who because of the family’s financial ruin would never attend college—and two unmarried sisters, Bertha and Genevieve. But even as he served as the dutiful son, he was looking for a way to get out of being a lawyer before his promised year was up.

“My father was an entrepreneur,” Gibbs confided to a friend many years later. “You know what that means? He wanted me to get into a solid profession—the law. He thought engineering was pretty unstable—said most of the engineers he knew were pretty impractical people.” His friend noticed that Gibbs’s voice hardened with belligerence as he remembered his father. But the son also conceded that he would never have amounted to anything if his father hadn’t gone bankrupt and forced him to work for a living.26 Gibbs also realized that in order to make something of himself, he would have to be a fighter. “Learn to withstand body blows because it’s the man who’s standing at the end of the fight that wins,” he said.27

In time, William Francis Gibbs would demonstrate a business savvy beyond that of his promoter father. But despite his intense drive, he strove to remain scrupulously honest, and he turned a blind eye toward social acceptance for its own sake. Wealth and appearances, he learned, could be fleeting.

While the Gibbs family fortunes sank, the greatest disaster in the history of the North Atlantic blighted the reputation of America’s most powerful financier, as error and arrogance claimed the finest ship in the world.
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J. P. MORGAN’S TITANIC

The nation quickly rebounded from the financial panic, but was captivated by more gripping headlines only a few years later. A tragedy at sea showed that even the greatest ships, built by the most ambitious men, were not as invincible as the public assumed. The Titanic disaster would always haunt William Francis Gibbs, as well as the man who would one day become one of his dream ship’s biggest financial backers.

As darkness fell over New York on the evening of April 15, 1912, a tall, solemn-faced twenty-one-year-old Harvard sophomore named Vincent Astor pushed his way through the crowd outside the offices of the White Star Line, the shipping company owned by the International Mercantile Marine and operated by Clement Griscom and J. P. Morgan. Astor had heard rumors in Cambridge that made him drop everything and take the first train to New York.

The airwaves of the North Atlantic were abuzz: the largest, most luxurious ship in the world had struck an iceberg the previous night. But White Star Line management assured the public that their brand-new flagship, although crippled, was still afloat. Yet as more wireless messages streamed ashore, it appeared that the unthinkable had occurred.

Vincent Astor was the son of Colonel John Jacob Astor IV, reputed to be worth $80 million. He was also the grandson of Caroline Schermerhorn Astor, the imperious, diamond-encrusted hostess at the center of New York’s “Four Hundred,” a group of families she deemed acceptable in society. Back even further was the first John Jacob Astor, a barely literate German immigrant who had become the nation’s first millionaire by making shrewd investments in Manhattan real estate. By 1912, in addition to owning the magnificent Waldorf-Astoria hotel, the Astors were also the biggest slumlords in New York City, owners of tenement apartment houses derisively known as “Astor Flats.”1

Vincent Astor loved automobiles and airplanes more than fancy living, and found his grandmother’s Fifth Avenue chateau a miserable place.2 His father was an aloof, eccentric philanderer who, according to one report, “would set upon him with a shoe or strap.”3 His mother, Ava, verbally abused young Vincent. After spending most of his adolescence at boarding school and tinkering with motorcycles, Vincent had hoped to go to the U.S. Naval Academy. But his father sent him to Harvard instead. There, in his freshman year, Vincent had to endure a scandal that would have unseated most other families from good society: his forty-seven-year-old father divorced his mother and quickly married a nineteen-year-old named Madeleine Force. The Four Hundred was shocked, and the public could not get enough of it. Readers of the tabloids learned that John Jacob Astor IV and his wife, Madeleine, would honeymoon in Europe. They would return on the magnificent new flagship of the White Star Line: the Royal Mail Steamer Titanic.

Once inside the White Star building, Vincent Astor went straight to the office of IMM vice president Philip Franklin. He came out in tears. Vincent’s father was presumed dead, while his pregnant young bride had survived. Gathering himself together, Vincent went to his father’s office and donated ten thousand dollars to help destitute survivors.4

Titanic was born out of the blood feud between IMM and its German and British competitors. In 1907, the year Cunard’s Mauretania and Lusitania made their maiden voyages, IMM founders J. P. Morgan and Clement Griscom teamed up with White Star president J. Bruce Ismay and Harland & Wolff shipyard president Lord Pirrie to push back. The three dreamed up a trio of three superliners that would be far bigger, more beautiful, and luxurious than anything afloat.

IMM needed the new ships. The huge holding company had been founded on the idea that combining international shipping lines would both stabilize rates and drive independent companies not part of the trust out of business. Quite the opposite happened. After IMM was formed, Cunard and HAPAG declared war on Morgan. In 1904, Cunard announced a “sweeping reduction in the price of eastbound first and second class tickets.”5 Morgan’s White Star met Cunard’s price reductions almost immediately. Then Griscom slashed fares for the American Line to a mere fifty-five dollars for a first-class berth. Germany’s HAPAG, apparently cooperating with Morgan, followed suit by slicing their rates. The timing for all companies could not have been worse. The Panic of 1907 disrupted the flow of immigrants to America, which peaked that year at just over 1.7 million passengers.

Cunard’s construction of the Lusitania-Mauretania duo using British government money had been an affront to Morgan’s ego, and the rate war was the last straw. As the mastermind of America’s biggest trusts, he was accustomed to getting his own way. Not only that, but it appeared that Ballin was in talks with the Kaiser about building a new trio of big ships for HAPAG. Cunard could hold a silly speed record if it wanted, but Morgan was determined to carry more passengers. But because he could not squeeze a subsidy out of Congress as his partner Griscom had a decade earlier, he decided to finance the construction of bigger ships out of his own deep pockets. The keel of IMM’s White Star Line steamer Olympic was laid in 1908 in Belfast, Ireland. The construction of Titanic, her slightly larger and more refined second sister, began three months later. Their cruising speed would be 21 knots—too slow to capture the Blue Riband from the Cunarders, but they would be much cheaper to operate. White Star advertised them as the most modern and magnificent liners afloat, as well as the safest.

When Titanic set sail from Southampton, England, on her maiden voyage on April 10, 1912, the liner was carrying a total of 2,228 passengers and crew, or about two-thirds capacity. But she carried only twenty lifeboats: sixteen wooden craft and four canvas-sided collapsible rafts—equipment approved by the British Board of Trade shortly before departure. Four days later, she struck an iceberg and six of her sixteen watertight compartments were open to the sea. With so much water pulling the ship down by the bow, veteran captain Edward J. Smith and chief designer Thomas Andrews knew that Titanic was doomed. They also knew the lifeboats had seats for only 1,200 people.

News of the Titanic disaster struck IMM leadership like a hammer. By midnight of April 15, twenty-four hours after Titanic sank, wireless messages relayed from the small Cunard liner Carpathia, which had picked up all of the survivors, confirmed the worst. IMM vice president Franklin finally admitted the death toll was well over one thousand. “I thought her unsinkable,” he said, crying. “I based my opinion on the best expert advice. I do not understand it.”6

The rescue ship Carpathia did not arrive in New York until the evening of April 18. Officials, reporters, and families were there to meet her when she docked at New York’s Pier 54 on that rainy night. Senator William Alden Smith of Michigan, head of the U.S. government disaster inquiry, kept a close eye on everybody who walked off the plain, sturdy vessel. First came Carpathia’s own passengers, well dressed but looking shaken. Then followed a steady stream of pale, bedraggled people, most of them women. Some were lucky to meet relatives, whom they tearfully embraced. Others were alone and destitute, not long ago in steerage. These were the 705 Titanic survivors.

J. Bruce Ismay, chairman of the White Star Line and IMM’s president, was known to be a survivor, as he had climbed into the last lifeboat lowered from Titanic before she went down. When Ismay was not among those who got off the ship, Senator Smith boarded to find him. He asked Carpathia’s captain, Arthur H. Rostron, for Ismay and was led to the captain’s stateroom. Knocking on the door, Smith found himself staring at Philip Franklin’s haggard face. The IMM vice president had hurried from company headquarters and boarded the rescue ship as soon as she had docked. His mission: protect the White Star chairman from the prying press.

Faced not by a reporter but by a United States senator, Franklin still insisted that Mr. Ismay was “way too ill” for anyone to see him.

“I’m sorry,” Smith barked, “but I will have to see that myself.” He pushed past Franklin, and found the pale J. Bruce Ismay lying in the captain’s berth. The slightly built Englishman appeared to be drugged. Smith gruffly introduced himself and announced that Ismay was to appear before the official American inquiry into the Titanic disaster the following morning at the Waldorf-Astoria hotel. Ismay quietly begged to be allowed to go back to England, but Smith said no. All surviving crew members were also served subpoenas to prevent them from sailing back to England, where they would be immune from any American legal action.7

Ismay spoke first at the Senate inquiry the next day. When asked if the number of lifeboats was standard British practice, Ismay responded, “I could not tell you that, sir. That is covered by the Board of Trade regulations. She may have exceeded the Board of Trade regulations, for all I know.”8

As the proceedings continued, Senator Smith and his board learned that neither Titanic’s captain nor the officers gave any clear warning to the passengers that the ship was sinking until very late. To make matters worse, many of the officers had been afraid to load the lifeboats to their certified capacity of sixty-five fully grown men, fearing they would buckle and send their occupants into the water. Worse still, many of the passengers refused to leave. It seemed safer aboard the big, warm vessel than to get into a rowboat and be lowered sixty feet into the dark ocean. Many of the boats left half full. It was not until the ship’s bow was awash that many of her passengers began fighting for a precious seat. Just then, a group of terrified steerage passengers emerged from below. The last lifeboat, bearing Ismay, left the ship at 2:05 A.M., a scant fifteen minutes before Titanic sank. The ship’s captain, her chief designer, and more than 1,500 men, women, and children perished.

Fifty miles from the foundering Titanic, Carpathia had received the White Star liner’s distress signals shortly after midnight. Her captain turned the ship around and raced to the scene, dodging icebergs all the way. Carpathia’s crew began picking up the 705 survivors as the first rays of a pink sun tinted the gray North Atlantic on the freezing morning of April 15. As the survivors rowed close to the rescue ship, those on board Carpathia could not help notice that many of the bobbing lifeboats were only partially filled. Five hundred more lives could have been saved.

Then there was the matter of the ship’s speed at the time of the accident. Contrary to speculation in the press, there was no way Titanic could have captured the Atlantic speed record from Mauretania. But rumors still ran rampant that Ismay had put pressure on Titanic’s captain to maintain her top speed of 22.5 knots through a known ice field so that she could beat her older sister ship Olympic’s maiden voyage crossing time of just over five days. Above all, Smith wanted to find out if Titanic had been going too fast.

As the hearings went on, Philip Franklin realized that the more his British boss said, the worse he appeared. Already William Randolph Hearst’s New York American had branded the IMM president as “J. Brute Ismay.”9

While on the witness stand, Philip Franklin swore under oath that he first learned about the sinking at 6:16 P.M. on April 15, less than two hours after a young radio operator atop Wanamaker’s department store named David Sarnoff picked up a faint message from Titanic’s sister ship, Olympic: “Please allay rumors that the Virginian has any of Titanic’s survivors. I believe they are all aboard the Carpathia.”10 Carpathia’s captain had refused to answer incoming radio messages for much of her return voyage to New York, deciding instead to send out lists of the saved.

After hearing Franklin’s testimony, Senator Smith concluded that IMM vice president Philip Franklin did not withhold news about Titanic’s sinking.

On May 25, as the hearings were winding down, Captain Herbert James Haddock of Titanic’s sister ship, Olympic, phoned Franklin at White Star Line headquarters. Smith had showed up at the pier completely unannounced. He wanted to inspect Olympic.

Franklin said that he would get to Pier 59 as soon as he could. In the meantime, he ordered Olympic’s captain and crew to do whatever the senator asked.

Smith was not alone that morning. With him were Rear Admiral Richard M. Watt—chief constructor (head of design) for the United States Navy—and a stenographer. After taking sworn testimony from Olympic’s officers and crew, the senator walked the decks. He eyed the forty-three lifeboats and rafts set hard by each other along the boat deck. Before Titanic sank, Olympic carried just sixteen emergency craft. Smith pointed at one of the lifeboats and asked Captain Haddock if he could have it swung out. It was, and all watched it swaying in the spring breeze sixty feet above the Hudson. Haddock hoped that the senator was satisfied. He wasn’t. Smith then asked the captain to load the boat with sixty-five men from Olympic’s crew and lower it into the Hudson.

Haddock froze for a moment, but then remembered Franklin’s order: do whatever the senator asks. One by one, members of Olympic’s crew stepped across the gap and took a seat in the dangling lifeboat. Senator Smith took out his pocket watch. When the lifeboat splashed into the Hudson River, the senator noted that it had taken eighteen minutes to swing out, load, and lower the boat. He seemed satisfied.

As Smith and Watt continued to inspect the White Star ship, an out-of-breath Philip Franklin jogged up the gangway leading to Olympic. He rushed up the grand staircase, passing the grand clock with the three allegorical figures of “Honor” and “Glory” crowning “Time.” Once on the boat deck, he could see light streaming in through a glass dome and onto the fine-grained panels, white tiled floors, and gilded balustrades—almost exactly as it once did on Titanic. Ahead he saw a knot of men standing around Senator Smith, who continued his probe.

The group descended into the depths of the vessel, first through luxurious public rooms and foyers, down deep-carpeted corridors, and then into the stark service areas. Finally, the men walked down a steel staircase into one of Olympic’s six boiler rooms, thirty feet below the waterline. As they entered the towering but dimly lit space, all gasped for air as acrid clouds of coal dust tore at their throats. The ship’s boilers were still aglow and the temperature hovered around 100 degrees. Through the murk, the senator saw dozens of sweaty, soot-smeared men lined up and at work. They pushed their shovels into piles of coal, tossed their loads into the blazing furnaces, and then clanged their shovels on the grates after every scoop thrown in. Even though the ship was in port, the boilers still provided electrical power for the ship’s mechanical systems.
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